1980

Jay A. Lembach v. Barbara A. Cox : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This is an action brought by the natural father (plaintiff) of a child born out of wedlock against the child's natural mother (defendant) for custody of the child. The mother counterclaimed for custody and also sought an interest in the father's property. The property claims were settled by the parties without trial and are not involved in this appeal.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN THE TRIAL COURT

Upon a trial to the court, the Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup presiding, and after past trial motions, the court entered an Amended Judgment (R. 175) and Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R. 171) awarding custody to defendant and granting plaintiff reasonable visitation.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the Amended Judgment and remand of the case to the District Court with directions to enter judgment in favor of plaintiff that he be awarded custody of the parties' child, with liberal and reasonable visitation for defendant, or, in the alternative, reversal and remand of the case to the District Court for new trial with directions as to the proper standards to apply in resolving the issues in dispute.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff and defendant are the natural father and mother of Thaddeus Justin Lembach, born August 15, 1978. The parties have never been married, but they resided together in plaintiff's residence at 781 First Avenue, Salt Lake City, Utah, between October, 1977, and June, 1979. After the child's birth and until June 6, 1979, the parties jointly cared for and raised the child at plaintiff's home. Each of the parties took an active and substantial role in providing the child with love, attention, care and guidance, although plaintiff provided virtually all of the financial support. In all material respects, the parties conducted themselves as "a family."

In June, 1979, the parties separated, and defendant took the child with her to her parents' home in Connecticut and to visit friends in Nova Scotia, Canada. In August, 1979, because defendant wanted to travel to Ireland, the parties agreed that plaintiff would care for the child in Salt Lake City, Utah, during that month. On September 4, 1979, fearing defendant's threats to deprive him of parental rights by forcibly removing the child from the State of Utah (Verified Complaint, paragraph 9, R. 3) plaintiff initiated the instant

action and obtained an order granting him temporary custody and support of the child (R. 17). After a hearing on September 14, 1979, the court entered a stipulated temporary custody and support order (R. 24) granting plaintiff and defendant "joint" responsibility for the custody and care of the child on an equal basis pending trial.

In connection with a pre-trial motion by defendant to dismiss plaintiff's complaint, the court expressly found and concluded that:

plaintiff has adopted the minor child by acknowledgment "for all purposes" in accordance with 78-30-12, Utah Code Annotated (1953), and that plaintiff has a right to custody in accordance with the "best interest of the child" as shall be determined at the time of trial. (R. 88)

A trial on the merits was held before the Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup on March 12, 1980. Dr. Leslie Cooper, a licensed clinical psychologist and professor at the University of Utah, conducted a pre-trial evaluation of both parties, prepared a written report (Ex. P-1), and testified at trial (R. 232-264). In his report, Dr. Cooper made the following observations and recommendations:

I believe that both Barabara and Jay both sincerely love and care about Thaddeus, quite apart from their using him and his care as a means of manipulating the other. I believe that Thaddeus feels very comfortable with and is attached to both Barbara and Jay. I could find little evidence from a psychlogical perspective to support the claims made by each party as to why the other should not have custody. I could find no evidence that Jay is so emotionally disturbed as to be a danger to Thaddeus' psychological growth. Nor could I find evidence that Jay was irresponsible in his behavior toward Thaddeus. At the same time, I could find no evidence that Barbara is suffering from a severe emotional problem.

On the basis of these psychological considerations, it is my recommendation that Barbara and Jay be given joint custody of Thaddeus, if the court can find means of terminating the manipulation of one another. A legal decree may stop the threats

of "each taking Thaddeus from the other." Their dependency on each other in caring for Thaddeus must end, and each must find his/her own solutions to the problems which arise in caring for Thaddeus when is is with them. Constructive means must be found to negotiate mutually acceptable solutions to common child rearing problems which naturally arise. I believe the present joint custody procedures could be continued, or the stay might be lengthened to a week.

There are problems with such a recommendation, namely, that the conditions required for its success cannot be legislated. Were the implimentation of this recommendation not feasible, it would then be my recommenation that Barbara be awarded custody of Thaddeus, and Jay be awarded liberal visitation rights. Such rights would not necessitate the need for supervision. In view of the plans of Barbara to move to the East if awarded custody, Jay's visitation rights should be for relatively long blocks of time such as over a summer and/or for extended vacation periods.

At trial, Dr. Cooper testified that it would be "best" for the child to maintain a "strong relationship" with both parents (R. 237). With respect to the defendant's willingness to facilitate such a relationship between the child and plaintiff, he testified as follows:

Q (By Mr. Leta) In your conversations with Mr. Lembach, did he ever say to you that he had any intention of precluding Barbara from having a meaningful relationship with Thaddeus?

A Not as such, that I recall.

Q Looking at the other side of the picture, in your conversations with Barbara, did she ever indicate or say anything to you that suggested that she did not want Jay to have a meaningful relationship with Thaddeus?

A Yes, she did.

Q What kind of things did she say in that regard?

A She stated that not only did she feel that Mr. Lembach should not have custody, but he should be given no visitation rights. And if visitation rights were given, they ought to be supervised.

Nevertheless, Dr. Cooper believed that joint custody would be "best" for the child. He made an alternate recommendation, however, that defendant have custody with long blocks of unsupervised visitation for plaintiff because the joint custody situation "is problematic" when the parties "live a great distance apart from one another" (R. 247-248).

Dr. Richard Schneiman, a specialist in child psychology and development and former child psychologist at Primary Children's Medical Center, also evaluated the parties and testified at trial (R. 165-191). Dr. Schneiman stated that both parties were "psychological parents" for the child (R. 268). However, as between the parties, Dr. Schneiman observed that plaintiff was more willing to accept defendant, more willing to engage in accommodation and/or compromise with defendant, more flexible, had greater trust, and exerted greater effort to be fair about sharing the child (R. 269, 272). As with Dr. Cooper, Dr. Schneiman testified that the "ideal" situation would be to order "joint custody" based on an "equal distribution of time" (R. 273), but that such a situation "becomes very difficult if defendant chooses to leave the area because of the geographic distances involved" (R. 273).

Dr. Schneiman testified that children who are raised by one parent have a "greater likelihood of developing emotional problems" (R. 275). He also stated that children who are raised by parents who reflect animosity and hostility toward the opposite parent not only have difficulties relating to the non-custodial parent but in 80 percent of the cases experience divorce in their own marriages (R. 276-277). Such children have a higher incidence of "acting out" and experiencing "serious emotional disturbances," in his opinion

(R. 277). In light of this research, Dr. Schneiman expressed the view that the "most overriding factor" in selecting a custodial parent would be the "willingness of the divorced parents to negotiate and accommodate a shared way of raising the child" (R. 275).

Based on his observations of the parties, Dr. Schneiman's preference would be to place the child in the physical custody of the parent "who's the most flexible and accommodating of the parties" (R. 279). Dr. Schneiman also expressed the opinion that, as between the parties, the defendant was less likely to follow through with whatever the court were to order (R. 282). Finally, Dr. Schneiman testified that plaintiff had a "greater ability to negotiate solutions" than did defendant (R. 290) and that it would be important for the child to maintain a strong "father-son relationship" with plaintiff (R. 290).

In addition to the differences stated above, the evidence showed significant economic differences between the parties. Plaintiff owned a home, had regular income and had employable skills as a carpenter. Defendant, on the other hand, was unemployed, depended on welfare for her support, had made "no effort" to find employment, had no permanent residence, had not earned any significant income in the last three years, and had no definite plans for the future other than to move back to Connecticut to live with her parents. Neither of defendant's parents testified. Furthermore, defendant admitted that she was very hostile and aggressive toward plaintiff (R. 348) and that she did not want him to visit the child without the supervision of another adult (R. 348).

On the basis of the foregoing evidence, the court entered its initial findings of fact, conclusions of law and judgment (R. 137, 140). The court awarded custody of the child to defendant because of a "maternal presumption" that young children should be with their mothers unless they are unfit (R. 172, 383), because plaintiff was "insensitive" and "selfish" toward the defendant in refusing to marry her (R. 361, 382, 386), and because plaintiff refused to "accept his responsibility" to legitimate the child through marriage (R. 361).

After trial, plaintiff moved to amend the judgment and, on the basis of newly discovered evidence, moved for a new trial. The court partially granted the motion to amend but denied a new trial. This appeal ensued.

ARGUMENT

I

THE COURT APPLIED ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARDS
IN RESOLVING THE CUSTODY DISPUTE BETWEEN THE
PARTIES.

From the record it is difficult to ascertain with precision what legal standard the trial court applied in resolving the custody dispute between the parties. It is clear, however, that the court did not apply the same standard to plaintiff as it did to defendant and, in fact, applied tests which were contrary to law.

At the conclusion of the trial, the court said:

. . . I have a difficult time accepting the concept of lack of flexibility on the part of the defendant, in view of your [plaintiff] apparent lack of flexibility in terms of accepting paternal responsibility in a direct sort of way.

The Court, a year later, has legitimized the child, has adopted the child, and the plaintiff has adopted the child through acknowledgment of paternity under the statutes of the State of Utah, but it's clear that the child was, under the law, bastard for a year. It appears to the Court that you've been selfish, that you've wanted to exercise your rights and privileges, much to the exclusion of the defendant, on your terms and on your conditions, and I think you've been very insensitive to her problems. She has had some emotional adjustments to make. Maybe fathers do, but we don't have them in the physical and emotional sense, as women do. We don't go through the physical and psychological changes that they do.

I have a hard time understanding the view, in view of those circumstances, why you didn't legitimize that child by marriage and accept that responsibility, even if it would result in a divorce, so that at the time of the birth it was a legitimate child. I'm going to award custody to the defendant. The testimony of the experts is clear that they see neither one of you as unfit. I think there is no disagreement with either of them that the Court really shouldn't interfere with the child having a strong relationship with both. I think it's obvious to the Court that it is in the best interests of the child that it have two parents. She's not got the emotional support from you, and it appears natural that she would want to go back where her family is. . . (R. 381-382). (emphasis added)

It is apparent from the foregoing that the court preconditioned plaintiff's right to custody upon some sort of ill-defined showing that he was "sensitive" to defendant's "emotional adjustment" and that he had "accepted parental responsibility in a direct sort of way" by "legitimizing" the child through marriage "even if it would result in a divorce." This standard imposes a greater burden upon the natural father of the child than upon the child's natural mother and has absolutely nothing to do with what is in the child's best interests.

The court's prejudice against plaintiff was made evident even before the close of the trial. During plaintiff's direct examination, the following colloquy ensued between the court and the witness:

BY THE COURT:

Q Do you understand that in the eyes of the law Thaddeus is a bastard?

A I don't understand the definition of a bastard.

THE COURT: An illegitimate child born without the benefit of marriage?

A Yes.

MR. LETA: Your Honor, I would like to just make one mention of the record in this case, which indicates that Judge Duram [sic] has found the child to have been adopted for all purposes.

Q (By the Court) Well, I recognize the order is in there, but I understand that the law does provide that if the parents aren't married, that under the laws of this state, the child would be a bastard.

A I understand he's an illegitimate child, yes.

Q Do you understand that he would have obtained legitimacy through the act of marriage?

A Yes.

Q Why would you choose not to legitimize him through the act of marriage?

A I understood that he also gained legitimacy by being adopted.

Q Do you feel that you have any real conception or feeling about what changes a woman is going through during gestation, emotional changes and feelings that she goes through?

A During pregnancy?

Q Yes.

A I've attempted to understand those, yes.

Q Do you think you have got any conception or sensitivity about how that must be in a state of being not wedded?

A I would say that I attempted to understand the feelings and other things that were going on with Barbara. I don't believe that that was all that was going on with Barbara. In fact, the issue of marriage, she was strongly against being married, and she only became interested in getting married after Thaddeus was born.

Q Do you feel that during that particular period a woman need a little extra support and understanding?

A I feel that both people need support, but, yes, I do feel the woman needs support, and I felt that I gave her extremely--a lot of support.

Q Do you feel that you provided that?

A Yes.
(R. 321, 322)

And, during the hearing on plaintiff's post trial motions, the court made the following remarks:

THE COURT: . . . You may find, if it's not in there, that he got the gal pregnant and he refused to marry her and was insensitive generally to the female problems that she went through in terms of childbirth, and in fact has parents in the state of Connecticut, and that he by his conduct or actions discouraged her from going back where she belonged. (R. 382)

* * *

THE COURT: The only conclusion I reach from that evidence is that he's less than sensitive about what his individual responsibilities might be. And to say that he is the most responsible and most fit under those circumstances is shocking to the Court's conscience. (R. 386)

The court obviously measured plaintiff's fitness by its subjective perception of his moral responsibility under the circumstances, although no such standard was applied to the defendant or recognized in law.

The court also based its custody decision on an absolutely erroneous application of the "maternal presumption." In its conclusions of law the court states:

2. Under case law in the State of Utah and under the common law of this State there is a presumption that a child of tender years should be in the custody of their mother unless the mother is unfit. In this case, no evidence has been presented that the mother is unfit to care for the child. Absent such a finding, custody should be awarded to the mother of the child. This conclusion is in addition to and is distinct from Conclusion of Law number 1 above. (emphasis added)

This standard has no support in the current law of this state as will be shown below.

Finally, the court applied a test respecting joint custody which, in effect, precluded such an award, even if such were in the best interest of the child. The court refused to even consider joint custody unless the parties were able to "negotiate" an arrangement on their own. At the conclusion of trial the court said:

. . . The child needs some stability and consistency, which the experts recognized. They both recognize that the solution to joint custody is an ideal situation which is not in touch with the reality of this particular case. I have no reason to believe that she's going to disobey the Court's order about providing him access to his child, encouraging a good relationship. She performed admirably well under strange and strained circumstances. It's just unusual and out of the ordinary that a man assume the role you have taken during the pendency of these kinds of proceedings. You initiated the action, and apparently there was some splitting up and sharing up to that particular time, and there's evidence that you do have problems that you can't see eye to eye on, you have differences that you can't resolve on your own, and the joint custody relationship contemplates the situation where maybe the child can live in a close neighborhood with the two of you, the child can have one set of friends and a school that they rely upon, where the two parents can get together as adults and do everything, I suppose, but live together, and be able to handle their problems as a man and wife. (emphasis added) (R. 362-363)

The foregoing supports the conclusion that the trial court (a) measured plaintiff's "fitness" to have custody by his unwillingness to "legitimate" the child by marrying the defendant and by his "insensitivity" toward the defendant; (b) "presumed" that defendant should have custody unless she was unfit; and (c) refused to order joint custody unless the parties could "negotiate" the terms of the arrangement out of court. Each of these standards is erroneous and prejudiced plaintiff.

Plaintiff is the natural, biological father of the child in issue, and therefore is capable of adopting the child by acknowledgment in accordance with § 78-30-12, Utah Code Annotated (1953). Mace v. Webb, 614 P.2d 647 (U. 1980). That statute provides:

The father of an illegitimate child, by publicly acknowledging it as his own, receiving it as such with the consent of his wife, if he is married, into his family, and otherwise treating it as if it were a legitimate child, thereby adopts it as such, and such child is thereupon deemed for all purposes legitimate from the time of its birth. The foregoing provisions of this chapter do not apply to such an adoption. (emphasis added).

The plaintiff adopted the child pursuant to this statute as Judge Durham recognized and as the evidence unequivocally demonstrates. See, State v. Dennis, 594 P.2d 898 (Ut. 1979). Judge Rigtrup erroneously believed, however, that the "adoption" was not effective until Judge Durham entered her order on December 24, 1979 (R. 88), and that the child was a bastard from the time of its birth until that date. The statute clearly makes the child legitimate "for all purposes . . . from the time of its birth," contrary to Judge Rigtrup's belief.

Since the child was legitimate from birth, the proper test to apply in determining custody as between the natural parents would be to apply the law governing custody of legitimate children which is § 30-3-10, Utah Code Annotated (Supp. 1979). "The legislative purpose giving rise to [§ 78-30-12] is to confer on an illegitimate child the civil and social status of a lawful child of the natural father." Mace v. Webb, supra., at 648. See, In re Richard M., 122 Cal. Rptr. 531; 537 P.2d 363 (1975). Standards which prefer the natural mother of illegitimate children [See, e.g. § 77-60-12, Utah Code Annotated (1953)] have no place in custody disputes involving legitimate children.

Section 30-3-10 provides:

In any case of separation of husband and wife having minor children, or whenever a marriage is declared void or dissolved, the court shall make such order for the future care and custody of the minor children as it may deem just and proper. In determining custody, the court shall consider the best interests of the child and the past conduct and demonstrated moral standards of each of the parties. The court may inquire of the children and take into consideration the children's desires regarding the future custody; however, such expressed desires shall not be controlling and the court may, nevertheless, determine the children's custody otherwise.

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