1980

# Jay A. Lembach v. Barbara A. Cox : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a custody dispute between the natural father and natural mother of a child born out of wedlock.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN  
THE TRIAL COURT

This matter was tried to the Third District Court, Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup presiding. The Court awarded custody to the Defendant. Plaintiff made a variety of post trial motions which resulted in an Amended Judgment (R. 175), still awarding custody of the child to Defendant.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks affirmance of the District Court's Amended Judgment.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent adopts the facts as set out in Appellant's Brief with the following exceptions:

As to the care of the child the trial court found that Defendant had primary responsibility for the care of the child between August 15, 1978 and June 6, 1979 (R. 172).

Dr. Cooper testified that joint custody working successfully depends on the willingness of the parties to work out such an arrangement (R. 246) and that joint custody should not be ordered by the court over the objection of the parents (R. 252, 263). Dr. Cooper further testified that it was unlikely that these two parents could negotiate for Thaddeus' care (R. 255).

Dr. Schneiman testified that there were no substantial differences in nurturing or parenting skills between the parties (R. 283-4).

Both Dr. Cooper (R. 256-7) and Dr. Schneiman (R. 286-7) testified that custody should be decided on the totality of factors not giving particular weight to economic resources.

The trial court awarded custody to Defendant, finding that the best interest of the child would be so served (R. 173).

## ARGUMENT

### I.

THE TRIAL COURT BASED ITS DECISION UPON THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD AND THE DECISION IS SUPPORTED BY AMPLE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.

This Court has established a stringent standard of review in cases concerning child custody awards. In the case of Jorgensen v. Jorgensen, 599 P.2d 510, 511-512 (Utah 1979) the court explained:

A determination of the "best interests of the child" frequently turns on numerous factors which the trial court is best suited to assess, given its proximity to the parties and the circumstances.

Only where the trial court action is so flagrantly unjust as to constitute an abuse of discretion should the appellate forum interpose its own judgment.

In the present case, the record shows that the determination by the trial court granting custody to the Defendant was based on ample evidence that such an award would best serve the interests of Thaddeus, the one and one-half year old son of the parties, and should be upheld.

The clearest basis for the court's award was the difference in care furnished the child by the parties. From the time that Thaddeus was born, the Defendant has assumed the primary responsibility in caring for him. While the Defendant was living with the Plaintiff, she nursed the child (R. 327), took care of his medical needs (R. 330), took the child to work with her during the day (R. 327), and even joined with him in swimming classes (R. 329). At night, when the Plaintiff was at home he and the Defendant shared child care responsibility (R. 327). However, the primary obligation to care for Thaddeus was always assumed by the Defendant.

The Defendant testified at trial that, if awarded custody, she would continue to care for Thaddeus personally, rather than placing him in day care (R. 336, 337).

Conversely, there is much evidence which shows that the Plaintiff has been unwilling or unable practically to spend as much time with Thaddeus. In June of 1979, the Plaintiff and Defendant separated. It was agreed that



Thaddeus would spend June and July with the Defendant and August with the Plaintiff. During August, while in his father's custody, Thaddeus spent most of his days in day care (R. 318). During January and February 1980, the parties stipulated that Plaintiff would have sole custody of Thaddeus for approximately two weeks. The Plaintiff testified at trial that during that two week period, Thaddeus was again placed in day care during the daytime (R. 319). Further, there is nothing in the record which would indicate that the Plaintiff would not similarly place Thaddeus in day care if given custody of the boy (R. 241).

Clearly, a single parent often is forced to choose between full time employment outside of the home and personally caring for his or her child during the day. The choice is not an easy one. It is understandable that the Plaintiff, if given custody, would be forced to place Thaddeus in day care as long as he continued at his present employment. However, for a child as young as Thaddeus, the trade-off between the Plaintiff's earning power and the Defendant's willingness to be a full-time parent is best resolved in favor of the party who will care for the child at home. The Washington Supreme Court was faced with a similar issue in In re Guardianship of Palmer, 81 Wash. 2d 604, 503 P.2d 464 (1972). The court stated that the issue of the relative wealth of the parties was immaterial and that the significant focus was on which party could provide the child with the greatest degree of affection and discriminating care. In



the present case, the Defendant is that person and the Court, correctly recognizing this, awarded her custody.

The Plaintiff makes much of his superior financial capability and states that the trial court judge ignored such considerations in making his decision. The record, however, indicates that the trial court did not refuse to consider the relative wealth of the parties (R. 367, 380, 381). He merely refused to weigh this consideration as heavily as the Plaintiff would have desired. He weighed this factor as one among many, as both expert witnesses suggested. In light of Thaddeus' young age, the Defendant's testimony that her parents were willing to provide some financial support (R. 341) and her testimony that she would seek part-time evening employment in Connecticut (R. 337), the judge's determination that the isolated issue of relative finances had no bearing on the issue of parental fitness (R. 311) was not unreasonable.

Utah case law does not support the Plaintiff's contention that money in and of itself is a sufficient basis upon which to award custody. The Plaintiff cites Jorgensen v. Jorgensen, supra, for the proposition that money is a central issue in a child custody case. But the Plaintiff ignores that in Jorgensen, the trial court based its decision on other factors in addition to the father's relative wealth. This court emphasized that the mother had indiscreetly engaged in two extramarital sexual relationships with different

men, that the child was older, and that, as stated by Chief Justice Crockett, there were "special circumstances...which...the Court's decision advisedly omitted from fuller exposition." 599 P.2d at 512. In the present case there were no such extenuating circumstances. Standing alone, the Plaintiff's superior income is not controlling and is only one factor of many that the trial court evaluated.

Similarly in the recent case of Nielson v. Nielson, (Utah Sup. Ct. filed October 29, 1980), this court considered relative financial situations of the parties only an "additional factor" and considered this only in light of the special circumstances in that case.

Appellant claims that the trial court improperly applied three legal standards, Appellant's Brief at 12; however, only one of these is in fact a legal standard - the tender years presumption which is explored in Point II below. Appellant maintains that the trial court abused his discretion by considering evidence of the Plaintiff's insensitivity to the Defendant and his refusal to marry her so as to allow Thaddeus the advantages of being born in wedlock. However, the record does not indicate that the judge's consideration of such evidence imposed a "greater burden upon the natural father of the child than upon the child's natural mother" as the Plaintiff asserts.

Such evidence was considered as a basis upon which to assess the Plaintiff's character and was indicative of

the Plaintiff's unwillingness to make sacrifices for Thaddeus as compared to the Defendant's (R. 361). The consideration was not gender based and could have been applied just as easily to a natural mother who was unwilling to legitimate a child through marriage.

Appellant makes much of the trial court's discussion of the illegitimate status of the child. However this discussion in no way interfered with the correct legal standard that the court applied - the best interests test (R. 173). In fact the trial court recognized and applied this test which was consistent with Judge Durham's pre-trial order on this issue (R. 88). Since the correct standard was used, the focus on certain attitudes and behaviors of either party which the court chose to focus on are within the sound discretion of the trial court.

Finally, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to award both parties joint custody of Thaddeus.

Joint custody, or any other custody arrangement, is within the broad equitable powers of the trial court in custody proceedings. While this court has never specifically discussed the standards to be applied in determining whether joint custody is appropriate, the court has approved a variety of custodial arrangements which display some variation from the traditional single custody award. See e.g. Sampsell v. Holt, 202 P.2d 550 (Utah 1949).

While the experts are divided on the general issue of joint custody and its effects on children, there seems to be agreement that this arrangement is not appropriate for parents who cannot cooperate with each other. See Dodd v. Dodd, 93 Misc.2d 641, 403 N.Y.S.2d 401 (Sup. Ct. 1978), and generally, Joint Custody: An Alternative for Divorced Parents, 26 U.C.L.A.L.R. 1084 (1979) at 1110-11.

Testimony from both experts here, Drs. Cooper and Schneiman, was that joint custody, while an ideal, was unlikely to work in the present circumstances (R. 247-8, 286). The Defendant testified she planned to live in Connecticut to be with her family. In his testimony, Dr. Schneiman explained that where the mother and father lived a great distance apart it would be difficult to arrange for a division of time where the child spent relatively short visitation periods with each parent. According to Dr. Schneiman, such short alternating custody periods are necessary to provide a young child with the necessary degree of consistency and predictability in his environment (R. 278).

Here Appellant and Respondent live at opposite ends of the United States making communication expensive and difficult and joint decision-making near impossible. This geographic situation, as well as the difficulties encountered by the parties prior to and during the temporary court-ordered joint custody period (R. 285, 305, 317, 335-6) indicate that joint custody is not appropriate here. Cer-

tainly, this court could, as Appellant seeks, set out appropriate standards to use in resolving joint custody disputes in this case; however, any such standards must include the court's appraisal of the ability of the two parents to work together which both the experts and the trial court here considered and found lacking.

While joint custody may be desirable in certain circumstances, its application in the present case would not be in the best interest of Thaddeus, and the trial court so found.

## II.

### THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE TENDER YEARS PRESUMPTION AS AN ALTERNATE BASIS FOR ITS CUSTODY AWARD.

This court has had a number of occasions in recent years to discuss the tender years presumption and its application in resolving child custody disputes in Utah. While the presumption was once traced to U.C.A. §30-3-10, the 1977 amendments to that section removed any such presumption. Previous cases had split on the issue of whether that section applied only to separations or to divorce cases as well. It is now clear that there is no "statutory" tender years presumption. Smith v. Smith, 564 P.2d 307 (Utah 1977); Jorgensen v. Jorgensen, supra. There remains however the "invariably declared policy stated in our decisions ... that 'all things else being equal, preference should be given to the mother in awarding custody of children of tender years' ...." Smith v. Smith, supra.



The problem has arisen in reconciling the "best interests" test with the "tender years presumption." The clearest analysis seems to be that "the presumption is subordinate to the higher rule that the paramount concern in such cases is the best interest and welfare of the child." (emphasis added). Bingham v. Bingham, 575 P.2d 703 (Utah 1978). The best interest standard has also been referred to as "the controlling factor," Henderson v. Henderson, 576 P.2d 1289 (Utah 1978), or the "primary consideration," Jorgensen v. Jorgensen, supra. In each of these cases the court found that the best interest test predominated over the presumption. In both Jorgensen and Henderson, the appellant mother sought to have the court overturn a custody award to the children's father. Both cases were affirmed, this court stating that the trial court's findings that the evidence predominated in favor of the father and thus he was awarded custody were based on the best interest test, rather than some sort of automatic award to the mother under the guise of the tender years presumption.

As discussed previously, the evidence in the present case supports the trial court's finding that the best interest of the child are served by awarding custody to the mother (R. 257-8). But assuming arguendo, that the "best interest" test alone does not preponderate in favor of the Defendant, at the least the evidence shows that the parties would make equally good parents and the tender years



presumption was properly applied as a separate and alternative basis for the custody award (R. 173 paragraph 2).

The trial court found that the Defendant and the Plaintiff were equally fit (R. 367), and that both parents love the child equally (R. 360). Such a finding was supported by the testimony of Dr. Cooper and of Dr. Schneiman. The parties were found to have similar parenting skills by both experts (R. 245, 268).

A determination that "all things are equal" does not require that all things be the same. That the Plaintiff makes more money than the Defendant does not necessarily mean that circumstances preponderate in favor of him, since other factors may well balance this fact. The Defendant's willingness to personally care for Thaddeus and to be at home with him during the day should be given great weight. It is such a willingness to personally nurture and care for a child which is at the heart of a tender years presumption in favor of a mother. This idea is aptly expressed in State v. Watts, 350 N.Y.S.2d 285, 289, 77 Misc. 2d. 178 (1973):

The rule giving the mother preferential right to custody is considerably softened by the realization that 'all things never are exactly equal' and it is predicated upon the acts of motherhood - not the fact of motherhood. Likewise, the rule will yield if the welfare of the child demands it, because this is not a presumption of law but a simple fact of life gleaned from human experience, and the courts are not timid in entrusting children into their fathers care and custody when their best interests will be served thereby. (citations omitted and emphasis added)

Utah courts have applied a similar rationale to the tender years presumption. In Cox v. Cox, 532 P.2d 994, 996 (Utah 1975) this Court noted that

there is wisdom in the traditional patterns of thought that the roles of mother and father are such that all other things being comparatively equal, the children should be in the care of their mothers, especially so children of younger years. (emphasis added)

When viewed in light of the evidence, the maternal preference in the present case operated as a function or role-based distinction, not a gender-based distinction. And the presumption, if applied at all by the trial court, did not result in a decision which was contrary to the best interests of Thaddeus.

### III.

APPLICATION OF THE TENDER YEARS PRESUMPTION ACCORDING TO UTAH CASE LAW IS VALID UNDER THE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

In the case of Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645 (1972), the United States Supreme Court held that an Illinois statute containing an irrebuttable presumption that unmarried fathers are incompetent to raise their children violated the due process clause. The Court found that due process required a more individualized determination. In U.S. Department of Agriculture v. Murry, 413 U.S. 508 (1973), Justice Marshall's concurring opinion explained:

The Due Process clause requires the government to act on an individualized basis, with general propositions serving

only as rebuttable presumptions or other burden shifting devices. That I think is the import of Stanley v. Illinois.

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